1977

Jeannette U. Swan v. Dr. Robert H. Lamb And Dr. Dennis D. Thoen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a medical malpractice case brought by
by the plaintiff JEANNETTE U. SWAN against defendants
DR. ROBERT H. LAMB, a specialist in the field of
orthopedic surgery, and DR. DENNIS D. THOEN, a
specialist in the field of neurology, for injuries
in the form of permanent partial paraplegia, which
she allegedly suffered as a result of certain
diagnostic and surgical procedures improperly per-
formed upon her spine and spinal canal by the said
defendants.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was brought, inter alia, on theories
of negligence and lack of informed consent, and was
tried before a jury. At trial the court refused to

allow plaintiff's expert witness to testify concerning the standard of medical care which governed defendant's conduct. Having so ruled, the court, at the close of plaintiff's evidence, granted defendants' motion to dismiss as to the negligence theory for failure to establish a prima facie case. The case went to the jury with instructions on the theory of lack of informed consent only, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of both defendants, no cause of action.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a reversal of the decision in the lower court and the grant of a new trial on grounds that the trial judge erred in stating and applying the law in Utah with respect to (1) the standard of care required of doctors who are alleged to have committed medical malpractice, and (2) the qualifications required of an expert witness in order that he be permitted to testify as to the said standard of care.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 12, 1972, the plaintiff, Mrs. Jeannette U. Swan, age 68, was admitted by her private physician to the St. Mark's Hospital in Salt Lake City for diagnosis and evaluation of persistent

pains that she had been experiencing in her lower back and right leg. Transcript, day 1 at 33-34. At the time of her admission, Mrs. Swan was ambulatory and, though she found it painful at times to do so, was able to walk and move about the hospital with some facility. Tr. day 4 at 72.

The first days of her hospitalization consisted of a variety of tests and examinations. On September 13th, her motor and nerve responses were found to be essentially normal (Tr. day 2 at 5) but other tests led her doctors to believe that she might have a high degree of block in her spinal canal. Tr. day 2 at 13; 3 at 21. On the fifth day of her hospital stay, September 16, 1972, a myelogram was performed upon Mrs. Swan by the defendant Dr. Dennis D. Thoen, a neurologist. Tr. day 3 at 18. In this procedure, a quantity of spinal fluid was removed from the terminal portion of the spinal canal and replaced by injection of 10 cc of a radiographic contrast medium called pantopaque. Tr. day 3 at 20, 26-27. Mrs. Swan was then tilted into various positions so that the flow of pantopaque could be observed under fluoroscopy and indicate the presence or absence of defects, obstructions or other abnormalities in the area of the spinal canal. Tr. day 2 at 15; 3 at 18, 48, 69.

In the course of performing the myelogram, Dr. Thoen did not record the opening or closing spinal fluid pressures. Tr. day 3 at 24, 30. Neither did he record the quantity of spinal fluid removed prior to the injection of the pantopaque radiographic dye. Tr. day 3 at 27. At the conclusion of the myelogram, Dr. Theon did not remove the pantopaque. Tr. day 3 at 32. During the actual myelographic procedure, Mrs. Swan complained of very severe pain. Tr. day 4 at 71. Following the myelogram, the intense pain persisted and was accompanied by general weakness in her legs. Tr. day 3 at 41. Although Dr. Thoen stated that he conducted a neurological examination upon Mrs. Swan in an attempt to determine the cause of her pain and weakness, she was neither x-rayed nor flouroscooped in the ensuing days. Tr. day 3 at 42, 48-49.

Results of the myelogram showed defects consisting of narrowing or blocks at the L-1, L-2 and L-3 lumbar vertebral levels. Tr. day 2 at 15. Dr. Thoen recommended surgery to correct the defects. Tr. day 3 at 46.

On September 18, 1972, defendahnt Dr. Robert H. Lamb performed a lumbar decompression laminectomy upon Mrs. Swan's spine. Tr. day 2 at 21, 22, 29. The said procedure, performed in the face of changing

neurological signs (Tr. day 2 at 112) and without the benefit of a current neurological examination (Tr. day 3 at 46-47), involved the surgical removal of portions of bone in the lumbar area in an effort to cure the narrowing at the spinal canal. Tr. day 2 at 97. None of the bone removed was ever sent to the pathology lab. Tr. day 2 at 41. In what was the seventh of eight separate operations performed by Dr. Lamb that same day (Tr. day 2 at 45), he operated from the L-2 level down to L-4, but did not operate at the site of the defect indicated at L-1; neither did he use a catheter to determine whether the spinal canal was clear at L-1. Tr. day 2 at 32, 112-113; Tr. day 2 at 15, 16. Mrs. Swan testified that prior to the operation Dr. Lamb assured her that she would be out of the hospital in about ten days. Tr. 4 at 73. She also testified that he told her she would be better if she had an operation. Tr. day 4 at 74.

When Mrs. Swan awoke the morning following surgery, she could not move her legs. Tr. day 4 at 75. An examination by Dr. Thoen on September 20, 1972, revealed that she was not able to move anything below her knees. Tr. day 3 at 47. On October 9, 1972, Dr. Al Martin performed a decompression laminectomy at the L-1 level of Mrs. Swan's spine. Tr. day 2

at 25, 106. This second operation failed to restore any significant capacity in the use of her lower extremities and on November 7, 1972, Mrs. Swan was discharged to the Bonneville Nursing Home as a paraplegic. Tr. day 1 at 35, 39, 44.

At the time of the trial of this case, Mrs. Swan was medically found to be suffering from paraplegia. In connection with that condition, she has lost control of her bowel and bladder function, experienced atrophy of her left lower extremity and paralysis of all nerve roots below the L-3, L-4 level, and has lost feeling in her right foot, left leg and about the saddle peritoneal areas. Tr. day 4 at 27, 28. She must wear a leg brace and use a wheelchair or walker to get from place to place in her apartment. Tr. day 1 at 43. She is required to take large doses of narcotic medications for pain. Tr. day 1 at 44.

At the trial of her case, the plaintiff, Mrs. Swan, offered the expert testimony of a neurosurgeon from Los Angeles, Dr. Peter M. Rocovich, on the issue of the standard of care required of physicians and surgeons performing myelograms and lumbar decompression laminectomies on persons like plaintiff at the time when the said procedures were performed upon her. Included among Dr. Rocovich's credentials that were presented to the court as foundation for such testimony

were the following:

The doctor received his M.D. degree from St. Louis University School of Medicine in 1942, after which he interned at Huntington Memorial Hospital in Pasadena, California. For three years, from 1943-1946, he was a general surgeon in the U.S. Army in the European theatre. Following his military service he fulfilled his residency requirements in neurosurgery at White Memorial Hospital which was associated with the Loma Linda Medical College. In 1948-1949 he served as instructor of resident neurological surgery at Albany Medical College in New York. In that assignment, he was charged with instructing and training in the fields of neurology and neurosurgery. In 1949, the doctor returned to California and started private practice where he has continued to the present. For 25 years Dr. Rocovich has headed a neurological and neurosurgical clinic at the Orthopedic Hospital of Los Angeles. The Orthopedic Hospital affiliates with the University of Southern California Medical School and is involved in teaching and training resident physicians from all over the United States. Dr. Rocovich was also the head of the Department of Neurosurgery at the Queen of Angels Hospital in Los Angeles for 12 years and served for a time on the faculty school of nursing. During such time,

said hospital had a complete training program for interns and residents as well as a medical school affiliation. Dr. Rocovich is a member of numerous medical societies, both national and regional, including the American Medical College, Western States Federation of Neurological Sciences, California Medical Association, Southern California Neurosurgical Society, and Los Angeles County Medical Association. Tr. day 3 at 100-105.

In addition to the above mentioned credentials, Dr. Rocovich testified that, over the course of his professional career he personally had performed over a thousand lumbar decompression laminectomies and over a thousand myelograms of the types that were performed upon Mrs. Swan. Tr. day 3 at 109. Dr. Rocovich was asked whether he was acquainted with standards of skill and care for neurosurgeons practicing in any states outside of California. His affirmative response was followed by the following explanation:

From my education background, from the individual education background, from being a graduate of a grade A medical school, from being trained in various parts of the country at different times, from being accepted into the Army and with other men, other doctors from all over the states of the union and all on the same equal level in the Army, from my practice in--well, in the large communities where you have medical schools

and where you have hospitals, where you have training programs, and you have communications and you have books, you have publications, you have the competition of one area against the other. This establishes the practice throughout the whole country and it's on the same level. Tr. day 3 at 107.

When Dr. Rocovich was asked if he had an opinion as to whether or not there was a different standard of care for various types of doctors who operate to enter the spinal canal objections by defendants were sustained for lack of proper foundation. Tr. day 3 at 109,110. Plaintiff offered to prove that the standard of care for all doctors entering the spinal canal area was the same. Tr. day 3 at 119. Plaintiff further offered to prove that myelogram and decompression laminectomy procedures of the types to which she had been subjected were routinely performed by persons in defendants' fields and, as such, were standardized in much the same way as the treatment of a broken arm. Tr. day 3 at 120.

After considering the issue of what standard of medical care to apply, the court rejected plaintiff's arguments for application of a similar community standard, (Tr. day 3 at 111), as well as a standard of the medical profession, (Tr. day 3 at 114), and ruled that Utah law required a doctor to exercise only that degree of skill and care required of the

average competent medical practitioner in defendants' same locality, Tr. day 3 at 111; furthermore, that in order to be qualified to testify on said standard of care in such a locality, a witness had to demonstrate "personal contact or experience within the State of Utah." Tr. day 3 at 118. See also Tr. day 4 at 6, 7. The trial judge ruled that since Dr. Rocovich had not practiced in Utah he could not testify as to the standard of care required of a doctor practicing in Utah.

Had Dr. Rocovich been permitted to, he would have testified that the conduct of both defendants violated the standards of care for the performance of myelograms and lumbar decompression laminectomies in Salt Lake City and areas similar to Salt Lake City during the period of September, 1972, as follows:

Dr. Thoen failed to perform and record a complete neurological examination prior to the first surgery. He left the pantopaque in the spinal canal. He failed to repeat the myelogram before surgery despite the presence of partial paralysis. He failed to record neurological findings and changes which he claims to have observed. He failed to properly record findings with respect to the myelogram procedure. Tr. day 4 at 106-107.

Dr. Lamb operated without a complete and current

neurological examination in the face of changing neurological signs following the myelogram and prior to surgery. He failed to submit surgical specimens to the pathology lab for evaluation. He failed to decompress the lamina at L-1 during the surgery he performed. He failed to use a catheter to determine whether the spinal canal was clear at the L-1 level at the time of surgery. He traumatized the nerve roots at L-3, L-4 during surgery. Tr. day 4 at 106.

Despite the court's preclusion of his opinion concerning the standard of care, plaintiff's expert was deemed qualified to express an opinion with probable medical certainty as to what caused plaintiff's injuries. He stated that Mrs. Swan's paraplegia was due to trauma which occurred principally at the time of surgery. Tr. day 4 at 44. As described by Dr. Rocovich, the irritation to the nerve roots caused by non-removal of the pantopaque caused them to be inflamed or injured. Said injury was compounded when the nerve roots were traumatized upon surgical removal of the posterior arch, thus producing immediate paralysis. Tr. day 4 at 46-47.

Plaintiff's evidence of causation, stripped of the benefit of her expert's testimony as to the standard of care, was deemed insufficient to survive defendant's motion to dismiss as to the negligence

count of her complaint. Tr. day 5 at 6. Thus, Mrs. Swan was prevented from reaching a jury with that portion of her claim.

ARGUMENT

Point I

THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW PLAINTIFF'S EXPERT, A CALIFORNIA NEUROSURGEON, TO TESTIFY ON THE STANDARD OF CARE REQUIRED OF THE DEFENDANT DOCTORS.

In order to maintain an action for medical malpractice, a plaintiff-patient must prove that the defendant-physician's conduct failed to meet the particular standard of care and skill that the jurisdiction in question requires of all physicians and surgeons engaged in the same type of practice as the defendant, and that said failure was the cause of the injury claimed to have been suffered. W. Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts 161-166 (4th ed. 1971). In order to establish the standard, since knowledge of such things is not possessed by laymen, the plaintiff must, generally speaking, produce testimony from a medical expert who can explain said standard as defined in that jurisdiction, and can also state whether any breach thereof caused the harm complained of. See Huggins v. Hicken, 6 Utah 2d 233, 310 P.2d 523 (1957); Anderson v. Nixon, 104 Utah 262, 130 P.2d 216 (1943).

History shows that the courts of the United States have used four basic approaches in establishing the standard of care to be required of physicians and surgeons. They have variously required that such practitioners exercise the skill and care of physicians in good standing in (1) the defendant's same locality (strict locality rule); (2) the defendant's same general neighborhood (same general neighborhood rule); (3) localities similar to defendant's (similar locality rule); or (4) the medical profession (national standard rule). Annot., 37 A.L.R.3d 420 (1971); D. Louisell & H. Williams, 1 Medical Malpractice, ¶8.06 (1973).

In ruling that Dr. Rocovich did not qualify to testify as to the standard of care required of the defendant physicians in this case, the trial judge stated that decisions of the Utah Supreme Court mandated his application of the standard as practiced by doctors "in this locality," thus applying a form of the strict locality rule. Tr. day 3 at 111. The suggestion that Utah Law held doctors to the standard of care of physicians in good standing in the same or similar locality was specifically rejected. Tr. day 3 at 111. Plaintiff's arguments that changed practices and circumstances dictated the adoption of a national standard of care, especially in cases

involving defendants holding themselves out as specialists, were also rejected. Tr. day 3 at 114; 4 at 10.

It is true that, at first reading, some of the cases in which this court has referred to the medical standard of care could lead the reader to conclude that a strict locality test is required. However, a closer analysis of the decisions containing references to the subject shows that, in fact, the language of a variety of different tests appears:

Two cases describe the standard of care to be the exercise of that degree of skill and care required of an ordinarily skilled doctor, "in the community which he serves." Anderson v. Nixon, 104 Utah 262, 266, 139 P.2d 216, 218 (1943); Fredrickson v. Maw, 119 Utah 385, 387, 227 P.2d 772, 773 (1951). This language clearly reflects the strict locality rule.

At least six cases say that a doctor must exercise that degree of skill and care practiced by skilled professionals doing "the same type of work in the vicinity" or "in the same area." Baxter v. Snow, 78 Utah 217, 232, 2 P.2d 257, 263 (1931); Edwards v. Clark, 96 Utah 121, 138, 83 P.2d 1021, 1029-30 (1938), reh'g den., 96 Utah 140, 84 P.2d 768 (1938); Forrest v. Eason, 123 Utah 610, 612, 261 P.2d 178, 179 (1953); Marsh v. Pemberton, 10 Utah 2d 40, 44, 347 P.2d 1108, 1110 (1959); Paull v. Zions First National Bank,

18 Utah 2d 183, 185, 417 P.2d 759, 761 (1966);
Posnien v. Rogers, 533 P.2d 120, 121 (Utah 1975).
This language, only slightly broader than the strict
locality rule, seems to state the same general
neighborhood rule.

Two cases contain language which describes the
standard to be that required of "men of similar
calling under similar circumstances," Dickinson v.
Mason, 18 Utah 2d 383, 386, 423 P.2d 663, 665 (1967);
or "in the same or a similar locality." Baker v.
Wycoff, 95 Utah 199, 212, 79 P.2d 77, 84 (1938). This
language further broadens the test to include the
standards of similar localities.

The only case to address the question of whether
a national standard should be applied in Utah was Coon
v. Shields, 88 Utah 75, 39 P.2d 348 (1934). At
the time, the Court did not feel the medical pro-
fession was ready for the broader standard, but pre-
dicted the day of its eventual adoption. Coon, at
82, 39 P.2d at 350. See also Point V, infra at 47.
Recently in Ficklin v. MacFarlane, 550 P.2d 1295
(Utah 1976), the Court spoke of the standard of care
as being that which is "extant in medical circles."
Ficklin, at 1297. Such language may reflect current
judicial approaches to make the standard fit changed
medical circumstances, in accordance with earlier predictions.

In order to account for the apparent lack of uniformity in language used by this Court in stating the medical standard of care, one need only consult the factual settings of the aforementioned cases. In no instance is the statement of the rule a critical element of the decision rendered in the case. Since no decision ever turned on which test was to be applied, it is natural that some imprecision could result.

Baxter v. Snow, 78 Utah 217, 2 P.2d 257 (1931); and Marsh v. Pemberton, 10 Utah 2d 40, 347 P.2d 1108 (1959) involved situations where the plaintiffs failed to offer expert testimony on the medical standard of care. Since expert testimony is generally required to establish medical standards of care, and since no experts testified on any of the possible applicable standards, it was immaterial which standard the court applied. Plaintiffs would have lost in any event. Thus, the Court's statements that defendants were held to a "same vicinity" rule were dicta and not holdings.

Additional explanation of the lack of consistency in the language on the medical standard of care to be applied appears in the cases where plaintiff's own witness, called to establish the standard of care, testified that defendants complied with it. Such

was the case in Edwards v. Clark, 96 Utah 121, 83 P.2d 1021 (1938); and Posnien v. Rogers, 553 P.2d 120 (Utah 1975). Since plaintiffs' own witnesses established the standard of care, the correctness of that standard obviously was not at issue in their respective appeals. The court's inclusion of "same vicinity" language in Edwards, and "same area" language in Posnien was not a part of the holding of either case.

In two of the cases, the competency of the plaintiffs' experts to testify on the applicable standard of care apparently was not challenged at trial, and thus did not come into question on appeal. In both Baker v. Wycoff, 95 Utah 199, 79 P.2d, 77 (1938), where the court spoke of a "similar locality" test, and Forrest v. Eason, 123 Utah 610, 261 P.2d 178 (1953), where the court described a "same vicinity" test, the expert witness testimony offered by plaintiffs on the standard of care was allowed at the trial level. In Baker, where the plaintiff prevailed, the defendant did not challenge the correctness of the standard as applied and it was not treated as an issue in the case on appeal. In Forrest, where the defendant prevailed, the correctness of the standard of care as established by plaintiff's own witness was obviously not addressed

on appeal. The tests announced in both cases were, therefore, unnecessary to the holdings of the cases, and, as stated, served only an illustrative role in the written decisions.

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