1977

Jeannette U. Swan v. Dr. Robert H. Lamb And Dr. Dennis D. Thoen : Brief of Defendant And Respondent Dr. Dennis D. Thoen

Utah Supreme Court

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

B. Assuming arguendo that the strict locality rule is deemed too restrictive by this Court, the "similar locality rule" should be adopted and "similarity" standards should be formulated.

Because of the criticism wielded against the strict locality rule, courts as early as 1880 developed an alternative standard which permitted a defendant to claim his locality and circumstances as a defense but also allowed a plaintiff a supposedly better opportunity to obtain expert witnesses and at the same time prevent

substandard medical practice from developing in an area. This modified rule was known as the "similar locality rule" since a defendant doctor was judged by the standard in his community of in "similarly situated communities".

1. Historical development of the similar locality rule.

The Supreme Court of Massachusetts in 1880 is generally credited with the establishment of the "similar" standard. In Small v. Howard, 120 Mass. 131 (1880) the court said:

[W]e think it was correct to rule that "He was bound to possess that skill only which physicians and surgeons of ordinary ability and skill, practicing in similar communities, with opportunities for no larger experience, ordinarily possess; and he was not bound to possess that high degree of art and skill possessed by eminent surgeons practicing in large cities, and making a specialty of the practice of surgery. Id. at 136.

The Iowa Supreme Court in 1897 relied upon the similar locality rule to prevent a substandard medical practice from developing. That court in Whitesell v. Hill, 37 L.R.A. 830 (1897) stated the following:

It seems to us that physicians or surgeons practicing in small towns or rural or sparsely populated districts are bound to possess and exercise at least the average degree of skill possessed and exercised by the profession in such localities generally. It will not do, as we think, to say that, if a surgeon or physician has exercised such a degree of skill as is ordinarily exercised in a particular locality in which he practices, it will be sufficient. There might be but few practicing in the given locality, all of whom might be quacks, ignorant pretenders to knowledge not possessed by them, and it would not do to say that, because one possessed and exercised as much skill as the others he could not be chargeable with the want of reasonable skill. Id. at 838-839.

Since its inception the similar community standard has been

adopted by a large number of states. Respondent's national survey indicates 19 states utilize this standard as to all physicians and 3 states utilize it as to general practitioners only. The following cases are representative of these jurisdictions as of July, 1977: Poulin v. Zartman, 542 P.2d 251 (Alaska 1975) (pediatrician); Kronke v. Danielson, 499 P.2d 156 (Ariz. 1972) (applicable to general practitioners only); Gambill v. Stroud, 531 S.W.2d 945 (Ark. 1976) (surgeon); Sinz v. Owens, 205 P.2d 3 (Cal. 1949) (general practitioner); Murphy v. Dyer, 409 F.2d 747 (10th Cir. 1969) (Colorado law applied to obstetrician/gynecologist); Flock v. J.C. Palumbo Fruit Company, 118 P.2d 707 (Idaho 1941) (general practitioner); Cook v. Lichtblau, 144 S.2d 312 (Fla. App. 1962) (orthopedic surgeon and anesthesiologist); Borowski v. Von Solbrig, 303 N.E.2d 146 (Ill. App. 1973) (surgeon); McGulpin v. Bessmer, 43 N.W.2d 121 (Iowa 1950) (general practitioner); Malone v. University of Kansas Medical Center, 552 P.2d 885 (Kansas 1976) (surgeon); Naccarato v. Grob, 180 N.W.2d 788 (Mich. 1970) (similar locality rule applied to general practitioners only); Larsen v. Yelle, 246 N.W.2d 841 (Minn. 1976) (similar locality standard applied to general practitioners only); Swope v. Printz, 468 S.W.2d 34 (Mo. 1971) (surgeon); Mecham v. McLeay, 227 N.W.2d 829 (Neb. 1975) (neurologist); Carrigan v. Roman Catholic Bishop, 178 A.2d 502 (N.H. 1962) (general practitioner); Dickens v. Everhart, 199 S.E.2d 440 (N.C. 1973) (general practitioner); Richardson v. Doe, 199 N.E.2d 878 (Ohio 1964) (registered nurse); Runyon v. Reid, 510 P.2d 943 (Okla.

1973) (general practitioner); Bly v. Rhoads, 222 S.E.2d 783 (Va.
1976) (obstetrician/gynecologist); Hundley v. Martinez, 158 S.E.2d
169 (W. Va. 1967) (ophthalmologist).

2. Application and criticism of the similar locality

rule.

The California Supreme Court and the California Bar authors of B.A.J.I. jury instructions have succinctly stated the similar community standard in the following jury instruction:

In performing professional services for a patient, a physician or a surgeon has the duty to have that degree of learning and skill ordinarily possessed by physicians and surgeons of good standing, practicing in the same or a similar locality and under similar circumstances. B.A.J.I. Instruction No. 6.00; Note, "Medical Malpractice: The Locality Rule in Relation to B.A.J.I. 6:00 and Sinz v. Owens", 7 U. San Fran. L. Rev., 163 (1972).

The use of the similar locality standard clearly eliminates the first alleged deficiency with the strict locality rule, i.e., the inability to obtain local expert witnesses. Under the similar locality rule a plaintiff may leave the state and obtain expert witnesses provided a sufficient foundation can be shown of the similarity in practices and communities.

The second alleged deficiency of the strict locality rule--the creation of a substandard pocket of medical care--is also eliminated since it is immaterial how many doctors practice in the defendant's locality or whether they are competent because outside doctors practicing in similar communities can testify as to what the standard should be with regard to the circumstances of such practice

and community. Gambill v. Stroud, 531 S.W.2d 945, 949 (Ark. 1976).

Critics of the similar locality rule argue that such standard is now outmoded since there is now a national standard of practice throughout the country and that rural, small-town communities should not be given any advantage in measuring standard of care over the large metropolitan areas. See e.g. Pederson v. Dumouchel, 431 P.2d 973 (Wash. 1967); Shilkret v. Annapolis Emergency Hospital Ass'n., 349 A.2d 245 (1975); see also Subpart C of this section infra. These decisions are based upon the assumption that modern communication, transportation, and increasing medical techniques have created a national standard so that medicine is essentially equal throughout the country.

It is interesting to note that such arguments are by no means new or novel and that as early as 1872 the same arguments were made concerning the modern techniques employed at that time. In Smothers v. Hanks, 34 Iowa 286 (1872) this argument was raised as follows:

But it is said that the instruction is erroneous, because it places the surgeon of the frontier village on a level with the experienced practitioner of the cities and seats of learning. As we have seen tests of experience and practice are not within the scope of the instruction. But, it is shown, that the frontier surgeon, as to theoretical knowledge, is brought by the side of his professional brother of the city. And why should he not stand there? He may in vain plead, or rather it may in vain be urged on his behalf, for, I know, frontier men of no profession will seek such protection, that his opportunities for the acquisition of professional knowledge are more limited than those of a city. In this age of books, professional periodicals,

and mails, the position wants support of facts. We may safely say that no respectable surgeon, wherever he may be, is uninformed of the progress and discoveries in his profession. Id. at 229 (Dissenting opinion) (emphasis added).

Likewise, in 1916 the Supreme Court of Minnesota also urged that standards at that time were equal to all. The Court stated:

In these days the physician or surgeon in a village like Cloquet is not hampered by lack of opportunity for advancement. Frequent meetings of medical societies, articles in the medical journals, books by acknowledged authorities, and extensive experience in hospital work put the country doctor on more equal terms with his brother. They proudly resent an imputation that he possesses less skill than the average physician or surgeon in the large cities, and we are unwilling to hold that he is to be judged only by the qualifications that others in the village or similar villages possess. Viita v. Fleming, 155 N.W. 1077 (1916) (emphasis added).

Thus, critics have always complained that medical care in all size of communities and locations should be equal and have constantly criticized any implication that such treatment is indeed not equal.

The Arkansas Supreme Court rejected an argument similar to that of appellant's that a national standard of medical care should be adopted:

One of the ideas suggested in appellants' argument is that a national standard of care should be observed. This is also unrealistic. We cannot accept that premise as a matter of law and we certainly do not take the theory that such a standard exists to be so well established that it can be judicially noticed. If it does actually exist to any extent, or in any case, then certainly it can be shown by evidence. If the medical profession recognizes that there are standard treatments which should be utilized nationwide this fact should be readily susceptible of proof under the similar locality rule, because the skill and learning should be the same and all localities would be similar. Gambill v. Stroud, 531 S.W.2d at 949.

Those courts abandoning the locality rules have done so on the assumption that the differences in community medical care which existed at the time the locality rules were formulated no longer exist today. While this may be true in certain portions of the country which are highly compact and urbanized, this is definitely not true in the sparsely populated areas of the country such as the West where the standard of care by necessity varies greatly from town to town. This fact was recognized by the Florida Appellate Court when it stated:

To the extent that certain areas may still differ significantly in these respects from the more populated urban and suburban complexes, it can be true today. Cook v. Lichtbrau, 144 S.2d 312 (Fla. App. 1962) at 314.

The difference in medical care standards is still a fact of life in western states such as Utah. The number of physicians, specialists, hospitals, laboratory equipment, emergency services, and numerous other factors to be discussed in detail infra all create substantial differences in medical care within the state. And while it is true that a doctor in Kanab cannot claim to be more careless than a doctor in Salt Lake, it cannot be said that the Kanab doctor has the same facilities available for medical treatment or the same experience as the Salt Lake doctor. See Douglas v. Bussabarger, 438 P.2d 829 at 838 where the Washington Supreme Court erroneously equates negligence with capacity in rejecting any differences between medical care in small versus large cities.

For these reasons and the specific reasons dictating a need for locality standards to be discussed infra in Part D of this section.

tion, it is essential that Utah retain either the strict locality standard or adopt the similar locality standard in order to preserve medical care in communities which, through no fault of their own, are unable to meet the high standards of metropolitan areas.

3. Formulation of a standard of "similarity"

If this Court chooses to adopt the similar locality standard it is imperative that guidelines be given to the trial courts of Utah for determining what criteria is necessary to establish "similarity". Some courts have considered socio-economic factors such as population, type of economy, size of city, and income of inhabitants. Other courts have also adopted the view that "similar" locality should be defined in terms of medical factors such as the existence of research and laboratory facilities, medical schools, teaching hospitals, modern equipment, emergency facilities, and available medical specialists. The commentators agree that this is the most logical application of the rule when measured against a major reason for its adoption, the availability of resources which would enable the physician to maintain the standard of his practice. See generally Note, 40 Fordham L. Rev. 435, 439 (1971): Note, "Medical Malpractice--Expert Testimony," 60 N.W. U. L. Rev. 834, 838 (1966): Note, "Medical Specialties and the Locality Rule", 14 Stan. L. Rev. 884, 890 (1962).

It is essential that all of these factors be considered in determining whether a community is indeed "similar". If, for example,

a community has no full-time emergency hospital operation, the length of time that a physician can be expected to arrive to treat a patient may be considerably greater than if the patient were receiving medical attention at an emergency ward. To compare this physician with one in a community having adequate emergency facilities is unfair and cannot be justified. See "Urban-Oriented Methods, Failure to Solve Rural Emergency Care Problems", Journal of the AMA, Vol. 226, No. 12 (Dec. 17, 1973).

Since many states adopted the similar locality rule as early as 1890 there have been numerous decisions interpreting whether an expert witness was indeed from a "similar" locality or community. See a digest of these opinions in Annotation, "Medical Testimony: Competency of Physician or Surgeon From One Locality to Testify, in Malpractice Case, as to Standard of Care Required of Defendant Practicing in Another Locality", 37 A.L.R.3d 420, 436-449.

The question of qualification rests largely within the discretion of the trial judge. Sinz v. Owens, 205 P.2d 3 (Cal. 1949). For example, in Murphy v. Dyer, 409 F.2d 747 (10th Cir. 1969) the Circuit Court of Appeals sustained the exclusion of testimony from a noted Washington expert in anesthesiology on the grounds that he was not familiar with the standards "employed in Colorado Springs or similar communities". On the other hand, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the admission of testimony by a San Francisco doctor against a Utah practitioner on the grounds that the California doctor was familiar with practice similar to that of the Utah

community. Riley v. Layton, 329 F.2d 53 (10th Cir. 1964) (erroneously construing Utah law as the "similar" locality rule).

These cases illustrate that the trial court can determine from the experience of the expert witness and the facilities available to the expert as compared with those of the defendant doctor whether a proper foundation has been laid to establish the similar community standard. In the instant case, for example, had the trial court allowed testimony as to a similar standard he could have determined whether the facilities available in Los Angeles were comparable to the facilities and personnel available in Salt Lake and if such a comparison was valid Dr. Rocovich could then have testified presuming his own personal qualifications were sufficient.

If the strict locality rule is to be expanded the most logical step is towards the similar locality standard. However, adequate guidelines as to what factors should be examined must be formulated by this Court in order to make the standard functional and workable at the trial court level.

C. Courts which have adopted a national standard have used fallacious assumptions or assumptions inappropriate to Utah medical practice.

Appellant argues in her brief that this Court should determine that a national standard of care exists as to physicians in Utah or at least to specialists in Utah. (Appellant's brief, pp. 42-49). Such a standard is based upon fallacious assumptions made by those courts adopting a national rule and upon criteria not applicable

to a state similar to Utah.

1. Historical development of the national standard.

Probably the first state to formulate the national standard idea was New Jersey in 1953. In the case of Carbone v. Warburton, 94 A.2d 680 (N.J. 1953) the Supreme Court of New Jersey stated the following rule:

Where, as here, the witness is offered by the plaintiff in a malpractice case, his opinion must be directed to the degree of knowledge and skill which is usual in the grade of the profession which the defendant occupies and which the defendant is employed in the particular case. Id. at 683.

Thus, in Carbone, the concept of locality was not raised with respect to the standard of medical care against which defendants' actions ought to be judged or as a basis for asserting competency of the plaintiff's medical expert.

In 1968, the Massachusetts Supreme Court wrote a comprehensive opinion in Brune v. Belinkoff, 235 N.E.2d 795 (Mass. 1968) that encompassed not only medical specialists, but also general practitioners and thereby overruled the original locality rule which had been the standard in that jurisdiction since 1880. The Massachusetts Supreme Court stated the following standard:

The proper standard is whether the physician, if a general practitioner, has exercised the degree of care and skill of the average qualified practitioner taking into account the advances in the profession.

* * *

One holding himself out as a specialist should be held to the standard of care and skill of the average member of the profession practicing the specialty, tak-

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